RECEIVED

07-20-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSIN :: COURT OF APPEALOF: WISCONSIN I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Appeal No. 2018-AP-766-CR

Trial No. 16-CF-4327

CALVIN LEE BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a judgment of conviction entered March 29, 2017 and an order denying postconviction relief entered April 9, 2018 in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner, Judge, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JOHN T. WASIELEWSKI Bar ID No. 1009118 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Wasielewski & Erickson 1429 North Prospect Avenue Suite 211 Milwaukee, WI 53202

(414) 278-7776 jwasielewski@milwpc.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUEii
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATIONiii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
Procedural history1
The search warrant affidavit2
Pretrial suppression proceedings5
Postconviction proceedings 6
ARGUMENT
The postconviction court erred in denying Mr. Brown's request for an evidentiary <i>Franks</i> hearing
CONCLUSION
FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION19
APPENDIX CERTIFICATION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
APPENDIX CONTENTS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<i>Franks v. Delaware</i> , 438 U.S. 154 (1978)8-9
Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983)11-12
<i>State v. Delgado</i> , 194 Wis.2d 737, 535 N.W.2d 450 (Ct. App. 1995)13
<i>State v. Mann</i> , 123 Wis.2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985)9
State v. Paszek, 50 Wis.2d 619, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971)10-11
United State v. Dorfman, 542 F.Supp 345 (N.D. Ill. 1982)9-10
United States v. Glover, 755 F.3d 811 (7 th Cir. 2014)14, 17, 18

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the postconviction court erred in denying Mr. Brown's request for an evidentiary Frank's hearing.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication are requested in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history

A complaint dated September 23, 2016 charged Mr. Brown with five counts: two counts of possession of controlled substance with intent to deliver in violation of Wis. Stat. §961.41(1m) (one for heroin, the other for cocaine); one count of keeping a place of prostitution in violation of Wis. Stat. §944.34(1); and two counts of human trafficking in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.302(2)(a). 1: 1-2.

On January 4, 2017 the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner heard arguments and denied, without holding an evidentiary hearing, a *Franks* motion to suppress the fruits of a police search conducted pursuant to a warrant. Apx. 103; 53: 8.

On January 30, 2017 Judge Wagner accepted Mr. Brown's guilty plea to one count of possession of heroin with intent to deliver and his no-contest plea to one count of human trafficking. The other three counts were dismissed, and two of them were read in. 55: 1-8.

On March 27, 2017 Judge Wagner imposed a sentence on the heroin count of 11 years imprisonment (7 years initial confinement and 4 years extended

supervision), and a concurrent sentence on the human trafficking count of 12 years imprisonment (7 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision). 58: 24-25.

Mr. Brown filed a postconviction motion renewing his *Franks* motion and seeking an evidentiary hearing. 42: 1-14. The postconviction court denied this motion without a hearing in a written decision and order. Apx. 101-102; 43: 1-2.

The search warrant affidavit

On September 20, 2016 West Allis Police Detective Nick Stachula signed a 27-paragraph affidavit in support of a warrant to search Mr. Brown's house. Apx. 106-115; 12: [5]-[14].

Paragraphs 1-4 and 14-24 recount Det. Stachula's experience in investigating drug and prostitution cases and the purported bases for seeking a plethora of items associated with such offenses. Apx. 106-107, 110-114; 12: [5]-[6], [9]-[13].

Paragraphs 5-8 recount information Det. Stachula received from his September 20, 2016 interview of JRR, whom he characterizes as an "adult victim." Apx. 107, ¶5; 12: [6]. JRR asserted that from 9/10/16 to 9/16/16 Mr. Brown held her against her will at his house at 6408 West Burnham Street in West Allis. Apx. 107, ¶6; 12: [6]. Mr. Brown took away JRR's cell phone and purse and refused access to these items without supervision. Apx. 107, ¶6; 12: [6]. JRR is a "recovering" heroin and cocaine addict. Apx. 107-108, ¶7; 12: [6]-[7]. Mr. Brown supplied JRR and another woman, Valarie Miller, each with a gram of heroin per day, and several grams of cocaine during JRR's stay. Apx. 108, ¶7; 12: [7]. On her second day with Mr. Brown, JRR overdosed on heroin and passed out; while passed out, Valarie Miller took photos of JRR in her undergarments and posted them on Backpage.com. Apx. 108, ¶7; 12: [7]. Cell phone #773-587-9907 was used in prostitution activities at Mr. Brown's house. Apx. 108, ¶7; 12: [7]. Mr. Brown and Ms. Miller asked JRR to engage in prostitution, but JRR declined. Apx. 108, ¶7; 12: [7]. JRR saw 10 grams of heroin in Mr. Brown's house; Mr. Brown concealed heroin, cocaine and sale proceeds in a Tupperware container with a red lid which he kept under the living room couch or in the side compartment of the refrigerator. Apx. 108, ¶7; 12: [7] JRR identified Mr. Brown and Ms. Miller from photos. Apx. 108, ¶8; 12: [7].

Paragraphs 9-13 set forth purported corroboration of JRR's account. Apx. 108-110; 12: [7]-[9]. Police

surveilled a Jeep registered to Mr. Brown parked in front of Mr. Brown's house. Apx. 108-109, ¶9; 12: [7]-[8]. A traffic stop of the Jeep revealed Mr. Brown as the driver, and Valarie Miller and another woman as passengers. Apx. 109, ¶10; 12: [8]. A review of Backpage.com in association with the cell phone number JRR provided showed nude photos of Ms. Miller and another woman, and two photos of a person in bed in undergarments which JRR identified as herself while passed out taken in Mr. Brown's home. Apx. 109, ¶11; 12: [8]. Det. Stachula viewed Mr. Brown's house and describes it. Apx. 110, ¶13; 12: [9]. In summarizing corroboration of JRR's account, the affidavit states: "Affiant believes that the information provided by JRR is reliable and accurate. JRR is a citizen victim and is not providing this information for financial gain or to receive credit for pending criminal matters." Apx. 110, ¶12; 12: [9].

Paragraph 25 indicates that Mr. Brown, while in custody, admitted residing at 6408 W. Burnham St. and declined to permit a search of his home. Apx. 115; 12: [14]. Paragraph 26 recounts Mr. Brown's 2010 drug offense convictions. Apx. 115; 12: [14].

Pretrial suppression proceedings

On November 30, 2016 Mr. Brown's trial counsel filed a motion to suppress the fruits of the search of his home. 12: 1-2. Among the grounds in the motion was an assertion that the warrant contained intentional or reckless omissions of fact, the inclusion of which would have negated probable cause. 12: 2. In the brief filed in support of this motion, Mr. Brown asserted that warrant omitted the facts that on 9/9/16, a bench warrant issued on JRR's failure to appear in a drug possession case where she had apparently violated her deferred prosecution agreement, and that JRR and her husband, also a wanted person, were arrested by the U.S. Marshal's Fugitive Task Force at motel in Franklin. 13: 2. Only after this arrest did JRR report her "captivity" that had ended 4 days earlier. 13: 2.

On January 3, 2017 the State filed a response in opposition to Mr. Brown's motion. 15: 1-6.

On January 4, 2017 the motion came before the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner for a hearing. Mr. Brown's counsel offered argument in favor of his motion. 53: 2-6. The prosecutor responded. 53: 6-7. The court then issued a ruling:

[T]here was additional investigation that

was made. It was brought to the court commissioner. The commissioner reviewed the affidavit. And based upon -I would - the totality of the circumstances and what was represented by the affidavit, what was being asked for, found probable cause. And the Court believes that that was -- that is in fact sufficient for the commissioner to have found based upon what was presented to it.

I don't see any problems of, quite frankly, with the fact that warrant was issued based upon the facts that were contained as alleged in the affidavit. Plus, I don't believe that there – there's any lapse in time when they make it defective either. So that's the ruling of the court.

Apx. 103; 53: 8.

Postconviction proceedings

Mr. Brown filed a postconviction motion requesting a *Franks* hearing on the issue whether the search warrant affiant willfully or recklessly made misleading omissions from the affidavit. The postconviction motion made an offer of proof as to these omissions:

The warrant affidavit fails to disclose that:

- In 2016, JRR had a pending charge of possession of controlled substance;

- On August 5, JRR entered a guilty plea pursuant to a deferred prosecution agreement (DPA);

- On August 9, 2016 JRR failed to appear in court in violation of her DPA and the court

issued a bench warrant;

- On or about August 20, 2016 JRR was arrested on the warrant;

- When police interviewed JRR on August 20, 2016, she was in custody;

- Prior to her custodial statement on August 20, 2016, JRR had made no report or allegation of any sort against Mr. Brown;

- [in] addition to the 2016 conviction, JRR had at least one addition[al] conviction, for JRR described in her police interview how she and Valarie Miller spent nine or ten months together as roommates in Meta House (a drug rehab facility) six years earlier when JRR was on probation.

On information and belief, these facts were known to warrant affiant, who nonetheless falsely and deceptively described JRR as an "adult victim" (¶6), and further stated that "JRR is a citizen victim and is not providing this information for financial gain or to received credit for pending criminal matters" (¶12) without revealing that JRR had a pending criminal matter and criminal record as described above.

42: 6-7.

The postconviction court denied the postconviction

motion in a decision and order. Apx. 101-102; 43: 1-2.

ARGUMENT

The postconviction court erred in denying Mr. Brown's request for an evidentiary *Franks* hearing

The Fourth Amendment requires that, certain exceptions aside, police must obtain a warrant from a neutral and disinterested magistrate before performing a search; and, since the Warrant Clause requires probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, the showing of probable cause must necessarily be a *truthful* showing. *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 164-165 (1978). The court in *Franks* rejected the State's assertion that truthfulness of the allegations in a search warrant affidavit are beyond review. The court set forth a remedy to challenge the truthfulness of factual statements in a search warrant affidavit:

> [W]e hold that, where the defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was included by the affiant in the warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires that a hearing be held at the defendant's request. In the event that at that hearing the allegation of perjury or reckless disregard is established by the defendant by a

preponderance of the evidence, and, with the affidavit's false material set to one side, the affidavit's remaining content is insufficient to establish probable cause, the search warrant must be voided and the fruits of the search excluded to the same extent as if probable cause was lacking on the face of the affidavit.

Franks, 438 U.S. at 155-156.

The decision in *Franks* addressed a situation involving false *statements* in support of probable cause. Wisconsin has not only recognized and applied *Franks*, but enlarged its scope to address situations involving "an *omission* of critical material where inclusion is necessary for an impartial judge to fairly determine probable cause." *State v. Mann*, 123 Wis.2d 375, 385-386, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985) (emphasis added). Likewise, Federal courts have extended *Franks* to situations involving omissions of material facts. *United State v. Dorfman*, 542 F.Supp 345, 367-368 (N.D. Ill. 1982) (collecting cases). The Court in *Dorfman* explain why *Franks* must be applicable in cases of material omissions:

> If the government could intentionally or recklessly omit material facts from warrant affidavits and applications, the same danger would be created [as with false statements]. If the government had unfettered power to pick and choose which facts to present to the magistrate

regardless of how misleading the presentations were, the magistrate's review of the affidavit would be rendered meaningless. The magistrate would not be provided with a fair opportunity to review the government's evidence in making the probable cause determination. He would perform his crucial role at the whim, caprice or duplicity of the governmental agents involved in the case. Such a result cannot be squared with *Franks*' demand that the government not frustrate the magistrate's review of probable cause by deliberately or recklessly providing misleading information.

Dorfman, 542 F.Supp. at 367.

When considering whether information is sufficient to establish probable cause, the person who is the source of the information, whether anonymous caller, confidential police informant or ordinary citizen, is crucial to the probable cause determination:

> different rationale Α exists for establishing the reliability of named "citizeninformers" as opposed to the traditional idea of unnamed police contacts or informers who usually themselves are criminals. Information supplied to officers by the traditional police informer is not given in the spirit of a concerned citizen, but often is given in exchange for some concession, payment, or simply out of revenge against the subject. The nature of these persons and the information which they supply conveys a certain impression of unreliability, and it is proper to demand that some evidence of their

credibility and reliability be shown. One practical way of making such a showing is to point to accurate information which they have supplied in the past.

However, an ordinary citizen who reports a crime which has been committed in his presence, or that a crime is being or will be committed, stands on much different ground than a police informer. He is a witness to criminal activity who acts with an intent to aid the police in law enforcement because of his concern for society or for his own safety. He does not expect any gain or concession in exchange for his information. An informer of this type usually would not have more than one opportunity to supply information to the police, thereby precluding proof of his reliability by pointing to previous accurate information which he has supplied.

State v. Paszek, 50 Wis.2d 619, 630-631, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971). After setting forth this distinction, the court in Paszek determined that the complaining witness, a pharmacy clerk who reported that Mr. Paszek had approached her and offered to sell her marijuana, fell in the latter category. As an ordinary citizen reporting a crime, her reliability need not be established as is required of a police informant.

Probable cause is a practical and non-technical concept, and it is determined by assessing the totality of

the circumstances. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 230-231 (1983). An informant's veracity, reliability and basis of knowledge are all highly relevant to this the determination. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 230. The ultimate determination must be made by a magistrate independent from any opinion or conclusion of the law-enforcement affiant: "Sufficient information must be presented to the magistrate to allow that official to determine probable cause; his action cannot be a mere ratification of the bare conclusions of others." *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 239.

The day before the 6-day period in which JRR said Mr. Brown held her against her will in his home, JRR missed court on her drug case. She thus violated her deferred prosecution agreement. A bench warrant was issued, and JRR was a wanted fugitive. When her purported involuntary confinement ended, JRR did not go to the police and did not report the offenses Mr. Brown had supposedly committed. Four days after the 6-day period ended, JRR was arrested and taken into custody. While she was in custody JRR gave the statement recounted in paragraphs 6-8 of the warrant affidavit. The magistrate reviewing the search warrant affidavit was informed of none of these facts. Rather, the magistrate was informed in the affidavit that JRR was an "adult victim." (¶6) and further that "JRR is a *citizen victim* and is not providing this information for financial gain or to receive credit for pending criminal matters." ¶12. The existence of JRR's pending criminal matters was not revealed.

It may be strictly true that JRR was not provided financial gain; Mr. Brown has no evidence to the contrary. It may also be true that JRR was not promised consideration on her pending criminal matter. However, what matters in assessing JRR's credibility regarding her pending case is not only any promise she may have but JRR's received. reasonable expectations. Α "prototypical form of bias arises in a situation in which a witness might have or realistically perceive an interest in testifying so as to favor the prosecution . . . in exchange for reduction in charges or sentence." State v. Delgado, 194 Wis.2d 737, 752, 535 N.W.2d 450 (Ct. App. 1995) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). In the same way, JRR, just having been arrested and in custody after violating her deferred prosecution agreement, may have perceived an interest in portraying herself as a sympathetic victim and thus tailor her remarks out of selfinterest in implicating Mr. Brown. Her account is of a victim, when circumstances suggest she was a fugitive seeking refuge. However, the magistrate was never informed of the circumstances suggesting why JRR should not be believed. The omission of negative information, known to the affiant, about a witness' credibility, suggests reckless disregard for the truth:

> An officer's omission from the probable cause affidavit of known and substantial adverse information about the informant's credibility is sufficient to support a reasonable inference of recklessness, requiring that Glover's request for a *Franks* hearing be granted.

United States v. Glover, 755 F.3d 811, 820 (7th Cir. 2014).

In Mr. Brown's case, as in *Glover*, the warrant affiant omitted information crucial to the assessment of JRR's credibility: that she had a pending case in which she had violated the terms of her deferred prosecution agreement, the she had been arrested on a bench warrant, and that she was in custody at the time she made her accusations against Mr. Brown.

These omissions are aggravated by misleading terms which the affiant included in the affidavit. The affiant labels JRR as an "adult victim" and, when recounting JRR's allegations, repeatedly uses the phrase "JRR reported that. . . ." Apx. 107; 12: [6]. This suggests, contrary to the omitted facts, that JRR voluntarily contacted police to report her allegations. This misleading inference is reinforced by the affiant's assertion that JRR is believed reliable and accurate because she is a "citizen victim." Apx. 110; 12: [9]. The affiant informs the court that JRR "is not providing this information for financial gain or to receive credit for pending criminal matters." Apx. 110; 12: [9]. This is the *affiant's* assessment of JRR's motivations. However, the affiant withheld crucial information from the magistrate that would allow the *magistrate* to assess JRR's motives, for the magistrate was never told of JRR's warrant deferred prosecution agreement violation or that she was in custody.

The postconviction court accepted the State's argument that there was nothing false about the affiant's statement that the victim did not provide information to receive credit on her pending case, as the victim did not receive such credit. Apx. 102: 43: 2. This was erroneous, for the issue concerns who assesses the reliability of the informant. Rather that provide the relevant facts to allow the magistrate to assess JRR's reliability, the affiant simply provided his own assessment.

Nor does the warrant affidavit contain substantial verification or corroboration of JRR's statement. Paragraph 9 states that police confirmed that a vehicle registered to Mr. Brown was observed parked in front of Mr. Brown's residence. Paragraph 10 recounts Mr. Brown's arrest after a traffic stop of this vehicle. Paragraph 11 recounts Backpage.com posts suggesting prostitution activities in relation to the telephone number JRR provided, including two photos JRR said were of her passed out in Mr. Brown's house. From this, one might reasonably conclude that JRR knew where Mr. Brown lived, and knew a telephone number used for prostitution activities on Backpage.com. However, identification of the photos as portraying JRR and taken in Mr. Brown's home rests solely on JRR's credibility. The affiant does not confirm from his own observation that the photos portray, or appear to portray, JRR, nor could the affiant confirm where the photos were taken.

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