#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-11-2018

## COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP766-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CALVIN LEE BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFEREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Brown was not entitled to a *Franks/Mann* hearing because he did not make a substantial preliminary showing that Detective Stachula intentionally or recklessly omitted material facts from the affidavit.

#### A. General legal principles

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and establish the requirements for the issuance of a search warrant. *State v. Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶ 27, 357 Wis. 2d 172, 849 N.W.2d 798.

#### 1. Probable cause determinations

Courts determine whether probable cause exists based on the totality of the circumstances. *Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 26. "Probable cause [for a search warrant] is not a technical, legalistic concept[,] but a flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." *State v. Petrone*, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 547–548, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Greve*, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479. A magistrate's

task is "simply to make a practical, commonsense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the 'veracity' and 'basis of knowledge' of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). The test is not whether the inference that the issuing magistrate drew is the only reasonable inference, but whether the inference drawn is a reasonable one. *State v. Romero*, 2009 WI 32, ¶ 41, 317 Wis. 2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756.

Assessing the reliability of a declarant's information is part of the totality of the circumstances. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 at 241. When deciding whether probable cause exists, a magistrate will consider both the declarant's credibility and the basis of the declarant's knowledge. Romero, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 20. A deficiency in one area of reliability may be compensated for by a strong showing of some other indicia of reliability. State v. Boggess, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 454, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983). As part of assessing the quality of the declarant's information, the magistrate may consider the basis of the declarant's information, the specificity of the information, and enforcement's independent corroboration information. Id. at 454–55. Thus, even if a declarant's credibility cannot be established based on the declarant's past performance of supplying reliable information to law enforcement, the facts may still permit the magistrate to conclude that the declarant has provided sufficiently reliable information to support the search warrant. Romero, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 21.

When this Court reviews the reliability of a citizen witness, this Court has applied a "relaxed test of reliability that shifts from a question of 'personal reliability' to one of 'observational reliability." *State v. Silverstein*, 2017 WI App 64, ¶ 15, 378 Wis. 2d 42, 902 N.W.2d 550 (citation omitted). A court assesses observational reliability "from the nature of

[the citizen's] report, his opportunity to hear and see the matters reported, and the extent to which it can be verified by independent police investigation." *Id*.

## 2. A Franks/Mann challenge to a search warrant

In *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), the Supreme Court held that a trial court is required to conduct a hearing when a "defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was included . . . in the warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement [was] necessary to a finding of probable cause." *Id.* at 155–56. In *State v. Mann*, 123 Wis 2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985), the Wisconsin Supreme Court extended the *Franks* rule "to include omissions from a warrant affidavit if the omissions are the equivalent of deliberate falsehoods or reckless disregard for the truth." *State v. Jones*, 2002 WI App 196, ¶ 25, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

"For an omitted fact to be the equivalent of 'a deliberate falsehood or a reckless disregard for the truth,' it must be an undisputed fact that is critical to an impartial judge's fair determination of probable cause." *Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d at 388 (footnote omitted). On the other hand, mere credibility determinations, the weighing of evidence, or the drawing of one of several inferences from a given fact, are not the sort of material omissions or misstatements of fact governed by the *Franks* rule. *Id.* at 389; *Manuel*, 213 Wis. 2d at 316.

A defendant is not entitled to a *Franks/Mann* hearing unless the defendant shows that the omitted facts, if included, would prevent a probable cause finding. *Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d at 388. Thus, a circuit court may deny a *Franks/Mann* hearing "if, when the material previously omitted is inserted into the [affidavit], there remains sufficient content in the [affidavit] to support a finding of probable cause[.]" *Id.* at 388.

If the circuit court determines that a defendant has made a "substantial preliminary showing" that entitles him or her to a veracity hearing, the circuit court must "determine whether the material is indeed false or included with reckless disregard for the truth." *State v. Fischer*, 147 Wis. 2d 694, 699–700, 433 N.W.2d 647 (Ct. App. 1988). "The deliberate falsity or reckless disregard whose impeachment is permitted today is only that of the affiant, not of any nongovernmental informant." *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 171. "Because the defendant must show either intent or reckless disregard, a *Franks* hearing, by necessity, focuses on the state of mind of the affiant." *State v. Anderson*, 138 Wis. 2d 451, 464, 406 N.W.2d 398 (1987). Said another way, "the focus is on the integrity of the challenged statement." *Id.* at 464 n.6.

- B. Brown was not entitled to a *Franks/Mann* hearing because the search warrant affidavit established probable cause and did not omit material facts that would have undermined the probable cause determination.
  - 1. The officers' corroboration of JRR's statements demonstrated that she was reliable and established probable cause.

Detective Stachula and the other officers corroborated JRR's allegations about Brown's and Miller's connection to the Burnham Street residence, prostitution, and drug-related activities.

Corroboration of JRR's allegations about Brown's and Miller's connection to the Burnham Street residence. JRR told Stachula that she went to visit Miller at the Burnham residence on September 10, 2016. JRR also said that Brown was at the residence. (R. 12:6.) Officer Kuehnmuench saw a Jeep parked outside the residence registered to Brown.

(R. 12:7.) Kuehnmuench saw people exit the residence, enter the Jeep, and leave the area. (R. 12:7–8.) When Kuehnmuench stopped the Jeep, he saw Brown in the driver's seat, Miller in the front passenger's seat, and "TB," a person whom JRR identified as being involved in prostitution at the residence, in the back seat. (R. 12:7–8.) Brown told the officers that he resided at the Burnham residence. (R. 12:14.)

Corroboration of JRR's allegations about prostitution at the Burnham Street residence. JRR told Stachula that after she had overdosed on drugs that Brown provided, Miller took photos of JRR in undergarments and posted them on backpage.com. (R. 12:6.) JRR also identified the specific phone number associated with prostitution activity at the residence. (R. 12:6.) JRR said that she refused Brown's and Miller's request that JRR engage in prostitution. (R. 12:6.)

Stachula, who had experience investigating online advertising of prostitution, explained how people use backpage.com to facilitate prostitution. (R. 12:5.) Detective Cerqua located several backpage.com advertisements associated with the phone number that JRR previously provided. (R. 12:8.) Cerqua located an advertisement dated September 11, 2016 of a woman lying on a bed in undergarments. JRR confirmed that she was the person in the photographs. (R. 12:8.) The advertisement's date and content confirms JRR's prior statement that Miller took photographs of her after she overdosed on September 11, 2016. (R. 12:6.)

In addition, Cerqua located three other sexually suggestive advertisements on backpage.com associated with the phone number that JRR provided. An advertisement dated September 20, 2018 included a nude photo of Miller. Advertisements dated September 17 and 20, 2018 included photos of "TB." (R. 12:7–8.) Both the traffic stop and the backpage.com advertisements associated with a common phone number that JRR provided, confirmed JRR's assertions that Brown, Miller, and "TB" were associated with one

another and the residence, and that they had a common interest in prostitution activities.

Corroboration of the drug trafficking activity. JRR also told Stachula that Brown repeatedly gave her and Miller cocaine and heroin while she was at the Burnham residence. JRR provided details about the type of container where Brown kept his drugs and proceeds. JRR also said that she drove with Brown when he delivered cocaine and heroin. (R. 12:6.)

For several reasons, the commissioner could reasonably conclude that JRR's assertions about Brown's cocaine and heroin distribution were accurate. First, as a recovering heroin and cocaine addict (R. 12:6), JRR understood how cocaine and heroin are distributed and used in the Milwaukee area.

Second, JRR admitted that she regularly took cocaine and heroin when she was at the Burnham residence. (R. 12:6–7.) Thus, her statements about cocaine and heroin use were against her penal interest. Courts have long recognized that "the credibility of an informant, for the purpose of finding probable cause, is established by the fact that his or her statement is against his or her penal interest." *Anderson*, 138 Wis. 2d at 470–71 (collecting cases).

Third, Stachula also determined that Brown had been convicted six years earlier of crimes associated with the distribution of heroin and cocaine, the same drugs that Brown gave to JRR. (R. 12:14.) As Wisconsin courts have long recognized, a prior conviction for similar conduct may also support a probable cause determination. *State v. Goss*, 2011 WI 104, ¶ 22, 338 Wis. 2d 72, 806 N.W.2d 918; *see also State v. Schaefer*, 2003 WI App 164, ¶ 22, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760 ("The prior conviction takes its place in a brick-by-brick case for probable cause, but is far from the only brick.").

To be sure, JRR did not have a history of prior reliability that would have established her credibility. But the commissioner could still conclude that JRR provided sufficiently reliable information to support the search warrant's issuance. The officers' corroboration of JRR's statements through surveillance, a traffic stop, record checks, and an examination of the backpage.com advertisements significantly enhanced the observational reliability of JRR's detailed allegations. Based on the totality of these circumstances, the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed.

2. Brown did not make a substantial preliminary showing that the omission of information about JRR's recent legal difficulties, if disclosed, would have undermined the magistrate's probable cause determination.

The circuit court denied Brown's motion for a *Franks/Mann* hearing because it determined that even "if the omitted information had been included, the affidavit . . . would have still established probable cause to issue a search warrant." (R. 43:2.) The circuit court applied the correct legal standard and the record supports its decision to deny Brown's request for a *Franks/Mann* hearing. *See Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d at 388.

Stachula had Even if Detective included the information about JRR that Brown claims was omitted, the affidavit still stated probable cause. Brown asserts that the affidavit should have included information that the circuit court had issued an arrest warrant for JRR based on her violation of a deferred prosecution agreement on a drug case. (Brown's Br. 12.) He also contends that Stachula should have disclosed that JRR complained against Brown only after she was arrested and in custody. (Brown's Br. 12.) But this omitted information related to JRR's credibility, and Mann forbids "the very kind of credibility determination and evidence weighing" that Brown now invites this Court to make. *See Manuel*, 213 Wis. 2d at 316–17, citing *Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d at 389. This Court should decline Brown's invitation.

And even if this Court were to consider the omitted information related to JRR's credibility, it still does not undermine the commissioner's probable cause determination. While JRR did not make her complaint for "financial gain" or "to receive credit for pending criminal matters" (R. 12:9), Stachula disclosed information that reflected on her credibility. JRR was a recovering cocaine and heroin addict who admitted using cocaine and heroin while she was at Brown's residence. (R. 12:6.) The omitted information—including JRR's violation of a deferred prosecution agreement, a bench warrant, and the custodial nature of her statement—simply did not undermine the plausibility of her allegations against Brown.

Most importantly, the officers did not simply accept JRR's assertions atface value, but independently corroborated through JRR's statements significant investigation. This investigation included surveillance tying Brown, Miller, and TB to the residence and a review of backpage.com advertisements associated with a phone number that JRR identified and that included photographs of JRR, Miller, and TB. (R. 12:9.) Because the omitted information did not undermine the plausibility of JRR's statement, the totality of circumstances would still have supported the commissioner's probable cause determination. the circuit court properly denied Brown's Therefore. *Franks/Mann* motion without an evidentiary hearing.

# 3. Brown's arguments notwithstanding, he was not entitled to a *Franks/Mann* hearing.

Brown does not challenge Stachula's assertions that JRR did not act for financial gain or to receive credit on a pending case. (Brown's Br. 13) But, relying on State v. Delgado, 194 Wis. 2d 737, 535 N.W.2d 450 (Ct. App. 1995), Brown suggests that JRR's expectation that she might receive consideration on her pending matters reflects negatively on her credibility. (Brown's Br. 13.) Brown misplaces his reliance on Delgado. That case appropriately recognized that in the context of a criminal trial a defendant should be allowed to explore a witness's potential bias as it relates to the potential disposition of a pending charge. Delgado, 194 Wis. 2d at 752– 53. Had Brown gone to trial, he certainly would have been allowed to explore JRR's bias based on her belief that cooperation might benefit her. But the issue here concerned a probable cause determination. And as the supreme court has recognized, credibility determinations are generally beyond the scope of a probable cause determination. Mann, 123 Wis. 2d at 389 (citing State ex rel. Evanow v. Seraphim, 40 Wis. 2d 223, 228, 161 N.W.2d 369 (1968) ("The hearing as to probable cause [in a complaint] before the magistrate is not a preliminary trial. It is not the proper forum to debate and determine issues as to credibility and weight of evidence once essential facts as to probability have been established.").

Brown asserts that Stachula's characterization of JRR as an "adult victim" was misleading, asserting that Stachula withheld information that would have "suggest[ed] she was a fugitive seeking refuge." (Brown's Br. 13–14.) The fact that JRR may have been motivated by self-interest when she reported to Stachula did not undermine the legitimacy of her claim that Brown distributed drugs to her and attempted to traffic her. The commissioner was aware that JRR had unclean hands when she reported Brown's crimes to Stachula,

who disclosed that JRR was a recovering drug addict who admitted using cocaine and heroin at Brown's residence. (R. 12:6.) "Admissions against one's interest are not inherently untrustworthy. That the self-implicators may be known criminals with long records does not destroy reasonableness of an inference of truthfulness." *Evanow*, 40 Wis. 2d at 228. And here, the officers' examination of a backspace.com advertisement dated September 11, 2016, that included provocative photos of JRR corroborated her claim that Brown attempted to traffic her. There was nothing misleading about Stachula's characterization of JRR as a "citizen victim" who was not acting "for financial gain or to receive credit for pending criminal matters." (R. 12:9.)

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